UNITED STATESI DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY
Hon.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Crim.No.18‑

V.

18U.S.C.§ 1344
18U.S.C.§ 1343
18U.S,C.§ 2

SANDY」 OHN MASSELLI
INDIC

TMENT

The Grand Jury, in and for the District of New Jersey, sitting at Newark,
charges:

Counts One and TWo
(Bank Fraud)
Background

1.

At all times relevant to this Indictment:

a.

Defendant SANDY JOHN MASSELLI ("MASSELLI") resided in

or around Red Bank, New Jersey, and Old Bridge, New Jersey, and owned and
controlled numerous bank, brokerage, and credit card accounts.

b.

Credit Card Companies A, B, C, and D (collectively, the

"Credit Card Companies") were banks or other institutions that issued credit
cards that allowed consumers to obtain goods and services with the

understanding that the consumers would repay the Credit Card Companies
pursuant to contractual agreements between the consumers and Credit Card
Companies.

c.

Credit Card Companies A through C were "financial

institutions" as that term is defined in Titie 18, United States Code, Section 20.

d.

Brokerage Firms A and B were financial services companies

that specialized in retail brokerage, wealth and asset management, and other
financial advisory services.
The Scheme to Defraud

2.

From at least as early as in or about June 2074 through in or

about July 2016, in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere, the defendant,
SANDY JOHN MASSELLI,

did knowingly and intentionally execute and attempt to execute a scheme and
artifice to defraud a financial institution, and to obtain money, funds, credits,
assets, securities, and other property owned by, and under the custody and

control of, that financial institution, by means of materially false and

fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises.
Overview of the Scheme to Defraud

3.

Between in or about June 2Ol4 and in or about July 2076,

MASSELLI engaged in a scheme to defraud Credit Card Companies A and B.
MASSELLI opened accounts with these Credit Card Companies, made

purchases with the accounts until he had aimost reached or exceeded the

credit limit on each account, and then sent the Credit Card Companies

fraudulent payments from bank accounts that he knew did not have sufficient
funds to cover the payments. While the fraudulent payments were pending,
the Credit Card Companies temporarily credited MASSELLI's accounts based
on those payments, providing him access to additional credit and allowing him

to continue to make purchases. By continuing this cycle numerous times, the
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balances of MASSELLI's credit accounts far exceeded his initial limits.
MASSELLI failed to pay these balances and the Credit Card Companies

ultimately sustained substantial losses.
Goal of the Scheme to Defraud

4.

The goal of the scheme to defraud was for MASSELLI to obtain

from the Credit Card Companies credit to which he was not entitled by

submitting fraudulent payments to the Credit Card Companies that
temporarily increased his available credit.
Manner and Means of the Scheme to Defraud

5.

It was part of the scheme to defraud that MASSELLI established

credit accounts with Credit Card Companies A and B and then incurred
thousands of dollars in charges on those accounts, bringing his balances close

to the credit limits.

6.

It was further part of the scheme that MASSELLI issued tens of

thousands of dollars in fraudulent payments to Credit Card Companies A and
B from bank accounts he controlled (the "Masselli Bank Accounts"), which he
knew at the time did not contain sufficient funds to cover the payments. While
these payments were pending, but before they were rejected, Credit Card
Companies A and B temporarily credited MASSELLI's accounts, which

increased his available credit (the "Temporary Credit Periods").

7.

It was further part of the scheme that, during the Temporary

Credit Periods, MASSELLI continued to incur charges to his credit accounts.
After MASSELLI's frauduient payments were rejected, the Temporary Credit
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Periods expired and, ultimateiy, MASSELLI's balances exceeded the initial

credit limits.

8.

It was further part of the scheme that MASSELLI continued this

cycle numerous times to maximize the amount of charges he could incur

without making payments to Credit Card Companies A and B. Credit Card
Companies A and B eventually charged off MASSELLI's accounts and sustained

substantial losses.

Execution of the Scheme

9.

On or about the dates listed beiow, in the District of New Jersey

and elsewhere, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the
scheme and artifice to defraud a financial institution, the defendant,
SANDY JOHN MASSELLI,

did knowingly and intentionally execute and attempt to execute a scheme and
artifice to defraud a financial institution, and to obtain money, funds, credits
assets, securities, and other property owned by, and under the custody and

control of, that financiai institution, by means of materially faise and
fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, namely, through the
manner and means described in paragraphs 5 through 8 of Counts One and
Two of this Indictment, and for purpose of executing and attempting to execute

this scheme and artifice, MASSELLI made the following fraudulent payments to
Credit Card Companies A and B, each being a separate count of this

Indictment:
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Count

2

Approximate Date

Description

September 25,2015

MASSELLI made a fraudulent payment
in the amount of approximately $35,000
to Credit Card Company A
MASSELLI made a fraudulent payment
in the amount of $ 10,000 to Credit Card
Company B

July 78, 2016

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1344, and Title 18,
United States Code, Section 2.
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Counts Three and Four
(Wire Fraud)

1.

The allegations in paragraphs 1 and 3 through 8 of Counts One

and Two of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated as if set forth fu1ly
herein.

2.

From at least as early as in or about October 2Ot3 through in or

about July 2017, in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere, the defendant,
SANDY JOHN MASSELLI,

did knowingly and intentionally devise and intend to devise a scheme and
artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of materially
false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises.

Overview of the Scheme to Defraud

3.

Between in or about April 2OI3 and in or about July 2017,

MASSELLI engaged in a scheme to defraud Credit Card Companies C and D.

Specifically, MASSELLI opened credit accounts with Credit Card Companies C
and D, made thousands of dollars in purchases, and then falsely represented
to these Credit Card Companies that the accounts had been opened

fraudulently and used without his authorizatron, causing the Credit Card
Companies to sustain losses by not holding MASSELLI responsible for the
balances.

Goal of the Scheme to Defraud

4.

The goal of the scheme to defraud was for MASSELLI to enrich

himself by making purchases with credit card accounts and then, to avoid
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paying the balances, claiming falsely that the accounts had been fraudulently
opened by third parties.

Manner and Means of the Scheme to Defraud

5.

It was part of the scheme that MASSELLI charged thousands of

dollars to credit cards issued by Credit Card Companies C and D. These
charges included personal expenses such as purchases at stores and

restaurants and a payment of over $15,000 for tuition and related fees to a
universitlr for one of MASSELLI's family members.

6.

It was further part of the scheme that MASSELLI falsely

represented to Credit Card Companies C and D that the cards had been opened

fraudulently and used without his authorrzation, causing the companies to
sustain significant losses by determining that MASSELLI was not responsible
for the account balances.

7.

It was further part of the scheme that MASSELLI committed the

following acts:

a.

In or about April 2013, MASSELLI opened a credit card

account with Credit Card Company C. By in or about May 2014, the account
had a balance of over $2+,000. Between June 2074 and July 2075, MASSELLI
sent Credit Card Company C numerous fraudulent payments that collectively
amounted to tens of thousands of dollars. These payments were rejected due

to insufficient funds. In or around July 2015, Credit Card Company C closed
the account and, several months later, charged it off. The account balance at
the time was over $A9,OO0. Thereafter, MASSELLI falsely claimed to one or
7

more credit bureaus that the account had been opened fraudulently and used

without his autho rization. As a result, in or around October 2ll6,Cred.it Card
Company C determined that MASSELLI was not responsible for the account.

b.

Similarly, in or about February 2OL7, MASSELLI opened an

account with Credit Card Company

D. By the end of the first statement

period,

MASSELLI had generated a balance of approximately $2+,214, approximately

$786 shy of his $25,000 credit limit. The charges that MASSELLI incurred
d.uring this period included approximately $t5,5OO in tuition payments and

related fees to a university in South Carolina for one of his family members.

c.

Over the next few months, MASSELLI sent Credit Card

Company D payments, all of which were returned due to insufficient funds. In

or about July 2017, MASSELLI contacted Credit Card Company D and falsely
claimed that his account had been opened fraudulently and used without his

authorization. As a result, Credit Card Company D determined that MASSELLI
was not responsible to pay the balance on the card and closed the account,

resulting in a loss of approximately $47,850.

Execution of the Scheme

8.

On or about the dates listed below, in the District of New Jersey

and elsewhere, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the
scheme and artifice to defraud, the defendant,
SANDY JOHN MASSELLI,

did knowingly and intentionally transmit and cause to be transmitted by
means of wire, radio, and television communication in interstate and foreign
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commerce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, as set forth
below, each instance being a separate count of this Indictment:

Count

Approximate Date

Wire Transmission

3

June 6,2014

4

May 12,2017

MASSELLI sent Credit Card Company C
a fraudulent electronic payment in the
amount of approximately $1O,OOO
MASSELLI sent Credit Card Company D
a fraudulent electronic payment in the
amount of approximately $28,990

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, and Title 18,
United States Code, Section 2.
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Count Five
(trIire Fraud)

1.

The allegations in paragraphs 1 and 3 through 8 of Counts One

and TWo of this Indictment, and paragraphs 3 through 7 of Counts Three and

Four of this Indictment, are re-alleged and incorporated as if set forth fuily
herein.

2.

From at least as early as in or about January 2OI7 through in or

about April 2017, in the District of New Jersey and elsewhere, the defendant,
SANDY JOHN MASSELLI,

did knowingiy and intentionally devise and intend to devise a scheme and
artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by means of materially
false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises.

Ovenriew of the Scheme to Defraud

3.

Between in or about January 2017 and in or about April 2OI7,

MASSELLI engaged in a scheme to defraud Brokerage Firms A and B.
MASSELLI attempted to deposit into accounts at Brokerage Firm B more than

$600,000 in checks from an account he controlled at Brokerage Firm A, which
he knew had previously been closed. Shortly after making the deposits,
MASSELLI attempted to transfer funds out of the same accounts at Brokerage

Firm B to pay various personal expenses. Those transfers were unsuccessful
because the checks MASSELLI had deposited were returned as unpaid.

Goal of the Scheme to Defraud

4.

The goal of the scheme was for MASSELLI to obtain funds from

Brokerage Firm B to which he was not entitled by depositing frauduient checks
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into accounts at Brokerage Firm B and then making withdrawals from those
accounts before the fraudulent checks were rejected.

Manner and Means of the Scheme to Defraud

5.

It was part of the scheme that MASSELLI and entities he controlled

opened accounts at Brokerage Firms A and B.

6.

It was further part of the scheme that MASSELLI deposited

hundreds of thousands of dollars in fraudulent checks drawn from an account
at Brokerage Firm A into accounts at Brokerage Firm B, knowing that the
account at Brokerage Firm A had been closed and could not pay the checks he
had issued.

7.

It was further part of the scheme that MASSELLI attempted to use

thousands of dollars from the accounts at Brokerage Firm B for personal
expenses before the fraudulent checks he had issued from Brokerage Firm A

had been rejected.

B.

It was further part of the scheme that MASSELLI committed the

following acts:

a.

In or about November 2016, MASSELLI opened a brokerage

account at Brokerage Firm A in the name of a company that he controlled (the

"First Masselli Brokerage Account"). In or about January 2Ot7, Brokerage
Firm A closed the First Masselli Brokerage Account due, at least in part, to
MASSELLI's attempts to withdraw funds from the account before the account

had sufficient assets. Brokerage Firm A notified MASSELLI that it was closing
the account.

b.

On or about February 27, 2017, rnore than a month after

Brokerage Firm A closed the First Masselli Brokerage Account, MASSELLI

attempted to deposit two checks, totaling approximateiy $300,000 ("Fraudulent
Checks l&, 2"), drawn from that account into accounts MASSELLI controlled at
Brokerage Firm B (the "second Masselli Brokerage Accounts").

c.
Checks

|

Brokerage Firm A did not issue payment for Fraudulent

& 2 because it had already closed the First Masselli Brokerage

Account. Nonetheless, after Fraudulent Checks 1 & 2 were deposited, but
before they were returned as unpaid, MASSELLI attempted to transfer

thousands of dollars out of the Second Masselli Brokerage Accounts to pay
personal expenses, including making payments to a credit card account on

which MASSELLI was an authorized user.

d.

Similarly, on or about April IO,2017, MASSELLI deposited

two more fraudulent checks into the Second Masselli Brokerage Accounts from

the First Masselli Brokerage Account, one in the amount of $100,000 and the
other in the amount of $204,000. Before these checks were returned as

unpaid, MASSELLI attempted to make additional transfers out of the Second
Masselli Brokerage Accounts, including a payment on or about the same date
of approximately $2,500 to Credit Card Company D.
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Execution of the Scheme

9.

On or about April lO, 2017, in the District of New Jersey and

elsewhere, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme

and artifice to defraud, the defendant,
SANDY JOHN MASSELLI,

did knowingly and intentiona-lly transmit and cause to be transmitted by
means of wire, radio, and television communication in interstate and foreign
commerce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, specifically,

an electronic transfer of approximately $7,500 from a brokerage account
MASSELLI controlied to one of MASSELLI's credit card accounts.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, and Title 18,
United States Code, Section 2.
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATION

1.

As a result of committing the offenses constituting specified

unlawful activity as defined in 18 U.S.C. $ 1956(c)(7), as alleged in Counts One
through Five of this Indictment, MASSELLI shall forfeit to the United States,

pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

S

98i(aXtXC) and28 U.S.C. 92461(c), all property, real

and personal, that constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the
commission of the bank and wire fraud offenses, and all property traceable
thereto.

Substitute Assets Provision

2.

If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any

act or omission of the defendant(s):

(a)

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

(b)

has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third
person;

(c)

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

(d)

has been substantially diminished in value; or

(e)

has been commingled with other property which cannot be
subdivided without difficulty;
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it is the intent

of the United States, pursuant to

incorporated by 18 U.S.C.

S

2l

U.S.C. S 853(p), as

982(b)(1), to seek forfeiture of any other property of

said defendant up to the value of the above forfeitable properby.

A TRUE BILL

Grand Jury Foreperson

RACIIAEL A.HONIG
ORNEY FOR THE
…
Acting

under Authority Conferred by 28 U.S.C. S 515
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